FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/16/2025 3:52 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Case #: 1043902

Supreme Court No._____

Court of Appeal Cause No. 862006

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRAD AND AMY WHALEY,

Appellants,

V.

OHIO SECURITY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

WATHEN | LEID | HALL | RIDER, P.C.

Rick J Wathen, WSBA #25539 Joseph D. Koler, WSBA #60241 Attorneys for Appellants 222 Etruria Street Seattle, WA 98109 Telephone: (206) 622-0494

rwathen@wlhr.legal jkoler@wlhr.legal

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Brad and Amy Whaley, the plaintiffs in the trial court and the appellants in the Court of Appeals, are the petitioners here.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its decision on June 16, 2025.

A copy of the unpublished opinion is attached as Appendix A.

Oral argument was presented to the Court of Appeals.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1) Under what circumstances may an insurance company deny a Washington State policyholder's claim for a covered fire loss based on the Protective Safeguards Endorsement?
- 2) Whether the Court of Appeals erred by holding, as a matter of law, that the fire suppression system was "not in complete working order" and was "impaired" when the system was fully functional and extinguished the fire?

- 3) Whether Washington State should adopt the standard of substantial compliance to determine whether an insured has complied with the protective safeguards endorsement?
- 4) Whether the Court should require an insurance company to establish actual and substantial prejudice in order to deny coverage based on purported noncompliance with the condition and notice requirements in the protective safeguard endorsement?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background

Because the Court of Appeals decision omits and misconstrues relevant portions of the record, Petitioners highlight the substantive facts underlying the insurance company's wrongful denial of a claim resulting from an accidental fire. For approximately 15 years, Brad and Amy Whaley owned and operated a restaurant, Café Burlington, in Burlington, Washington. CP 76, 119. The property was covered under a commercial insurance policy, which the Whaleys

purchased from Ohio Security Insurance Company (OSIC). *See* CP 209-463. In September of 2019, the Whaleys leased the restaurant business to tenants, Emmanuel Martinez Vargas, Alli Leann Martinez Vargas, and Martha Vargas, who took over operations. CP 101.

B. Protective Safeguards Endorsement

On September 1, 2019, OSIC changed the terms of the Policy by adding the "Protective Safeguards endorsement." CP 211. Subsection A provided: "As a condition of this insurance, you are required to maintain the protective devices or services listed in the Schedule Above." CP 379. This condition applied to the following:

automatic commercial kitchen fire An suppression[lincluding hood, plenums, exhaust ducts, and fire[]extinguishing equipment over cooking appliances[]that is in compliance with both Underwriters Laboratories standard (UL300) and National Fire Protective Association 96 (NFPA 96). The suppression system must be inspected and serviced semi-annually by an independent contractor and the ventilating system must be cleaned quarterly by an independent contractor.

CP 379.

Subsection B provided as follows:

We will not pay for loss or damage caused by or resulting from fire if, prior to the fire, you:

- 1. Knew of any suspension or impairment in any protective safeguard listed in the Schedule above and failed to notify us of that fact; or
- 2. Failed to maintain any protective safeguard listed in the Schedule above, and over which you had control, in complete working order.

CP 380.

C. Inspection Finds System is Fully Operational

On **September 18, 2019**, Alpine Fire and Safety Systems conducted an inspection of the fire suppression system at Café Burlington. CP 26. Alpine uploaded the inspection report to Tegris, which is a reporting system that notifies the city of the results of the inspection. CP 30-32. The inspector certified the suppression system with a Yellow Tag. CP 30. A yellow tag means that the system is operational but noncompliant. CP 1094. While certain "deficiencies" were noted, both reports from the

inspection provided that the "System is fully operational." CP 28, 32.

On **September 30, 3019**, the City of Burlington Fire Marshal, Kelly Blaine, inspected the system. CP 493. The inspection report identified "concerns" and noted things to be corrected. CP 496. During the inspection, Blaine observed nothing that warranted a Reg Tag.¹ CP 1116. A red tag means that "the system is not operating" or "is unsafe." CP 1094. Following Blaine's inspection, the system remained yellow tagged with the Tegris Report showing the "System is fully operational." CP 32.

D. The Fire

On **December 16, 2019**, a fire occurred at the restaurant. CP 488. It is undisputed that the automatic fire suppression system activated and extinguished the fire at Café Burlington. CP 1069; CP 1054; CP 1110. When the fire department arrived

¹ Blaine also confirmed that he had authority to change the tag status from yellow to red. CP 1116.

the following morning, Blaine spoke with Martha Vargas who told him that she had been cooking bacon the night before and may have forgotten to turn the burner off prior to leaving. CP 714. The fire originated in the kitchen on the 36-inch griddle under which a burner had been left on high. CP 715-16.

E. OSIC Retains Ted Hickey to Conduct Investigation on the Fire Loss

The Whaleys immediately filed an insurance claim with OSIC. CP 479. OSIC retained cause and origin analyst Ted Hickey of Rimkus Consulting to investigate. CP 1023-26. When Hickey conducted his inspection on December 18, 2019, the fire suppression system had already been dismantled by Blaine who had removed the components "as evidence in a potential criminal case." CP 200. The following day, Hickey met with Blaine to discuss the circumstances around the fire. CP 200.

On **January 14, 2019**, Hickey completed his report. CP 198-206. The report reflected findings that (1) the fusible links caused a delay in the activation of the system, and (2) make-up

air was not introduced nor did the fan activate when the system fired. CP 200-01. The report concluded that "the delay and malfunction of the hood system was a contributing factor to the fire and smoke damage that occurred in the incident." CP 201.

F. Hickey's Entire Report was Based on Blaine's Oral Statements; Hickey Did Not Independently Verify Anything

At his deposition, Hickey explained that NFPA 921 is the "standard guide for fire and explosion investigations." CP 1073. NFPA 921 requires the investigator to conduct testing and follow the scientific method before making any conclusions. CP 1068. Hickey neither performed any testing nor did he rely on any testing to determine the purported damage resulting from the alleged deficiencies in the system. CP 1067. Hickey admitted that his entire report was based on what Blaine had told him. CP 1069. Hickey agreed that NFPA 921 required him to independently verify any conclusions that he relied upon. CP 1069. Hickey never independently verified any of the material findings or conclusions in his report. CP 1071-74. Hickey never

examined any of the evidence taken from the scene by Blaine. CP 1071. Every single finding and conclusion in Hickey's report was blindly adopted from Blaine's oral statements, which Hickey "took at face value." CP 1073-74

G. OSIC Denies the Whaleys' Claim Based on the Unsupported Findings and Conclusions in Hickey's Report

On February 20, 2020, OSIC sent the Whaleys a letter denying coverage on their insurance claim based Hickey's conclusory investigation. CP 1613-19. According to OSIC, coverage was excluded under the Protective Safeguards endorsement because the Whaley's failed to notify the insurer of the system's "impairments" and failed to maintain the system in "complete working order." CP 1617.

H. Blaine Issues His Report Seven Months After OSIC Denied the Whaleys' Insurance Claim

Approximately seven months after OSIC denied the Whaleys' insurance claim, Blaine completed his cause and origin report sometime in September of 2020. CP 1118; CP 1029-1062.

Despite the length of time, Blaine's investigation did not involve any testing nor did it rely on any scientific studies. CP 1120. Blaine confirmed his sole purpose was to determine the cause and origin of the fire.² CP 1090.

As the report reflects, the cause and origin of the fire was clear from the initial inspection. *See* CP 1054. On December 17, 2019, Vargas told Blaine that she had cooked bacon on high heat for a customer just prior to closing; Vargas told Blaine that she may have forgot to turn the burner off before leaving; Blaine and Vargas both saw the knob had been left in the "on" position; the knob controlled a burner underneath the 36-inch Vulcan griddle, which is where the fire started. CP 1054.

At the time of the fire, there were two containers full of oil and grease sitting on the surface of the griddle: One was a one-

² The report shows that Blaine was attempting to investigate some type of purported criminal conspiracy. *See* CP 1053. Not only did Blaine dismantle the suppression system and remove the components from within, the report provides that Blaine packaged and photographed all of the evidence, and then, turned this "evidence" over to the police department for processing and storage. CP 1053. It remains unclear what Blaine was looking for, but it is clear that he was attempting develop a criminal case. *See* CP 200.

quart metal container full of cooking oil; Vargas told Blaine that she refills that container every night prior to leaving. CP 1054. The other was a pan of grease, which Vargas told Blaine she puts the grease in after cooking. *Id.* The cooking oil in the quart eventually boiled over onto the cooking surface and ignited. CP 1053-54. Blaine's report ruled the fire accidental. CP 1055. There was no dispute that the fire suppression system activated and extinguished the fire. CP 1054-55; CP 1110.

This was the first commercial kitchen fire that Blaine had ever investigated. CP 1091. Although required by NFPA 921, Blaine did not perform any testing prior to rendering the opinions in his report. CP 1120. When Blaine was questioned about the fusible links, Blaine conceded that he could not say the temperature rating of 500 degrees too high as he did not know the appropriate level. CP 1099, 1109. While Blaine opined that the activation of the system was delayed, Blaine had no idea as to how long this purported delay was. CP 1110-11. Contrary to his report, Blaine admitted that he could not determine how long

a fire had been burning based on burn patterns. CP 1112. Blaine also acknowledged the system may have extinguished the fire within two minutes as required by UL 300. CP 1112.

I. Lawsuit and Appeal

In November of 2020, the Whaleys filed suit against OSIC for breach of contract and breach of the duty of good faith. OSIC moved for summary judgment. Following a hearing in April of 2023, the trial court held that coverage was excluded by the Protective Safeguards Endorsement under both provisions of subsection B. The Whaleys appealed. Following oral argument at the Court of Appeals, Division I issued an unpublished opinion affirming. Whaley v. Ohio Sec. Ins. Co., No. 86200-6-I, 2025 Wash. App. LEXIS 1145, (Ct. App. June 16, 2025)

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This case squarely meets the criteria for this Court's discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). The Protective Safeguards Endorsement has not been interpreted or applied by

any controlling authority in Washington State. Unlike the Court of Appeals in *Whaley*, courts in other jurisdictions have not construed the protective safeguards endorsement to exclude coverage when the system was operational and extinguished the fire.³ Moreover, insurers have adopted boilerplate language providing nearly identical terms in their protective safeguard endorsements. *See e.g., Hernandez & Nunez, Inc. v. Penn-America Ins. Co.*, No. CV 18-4192 AS, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 56960, at *5 (C.D. Cal. Feb. 15, 2019); *United Specialty Ins. Co. v. Shot Shakers, Inc.*, No. C18-0596JLR, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7463, at *5 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 15, 2019). In RCW 48.01.030, our

_

³ Rather, courts have only applied the protective safeguards endorsement to preclude coverage where either (1) the system was obsolete and failed to function or (2) the system never existed to begin with. *See Am. Way Cellular, Inc. v. Travelers Prop. Cas. Co. of Am.*, 216 Cal. App. 4th 1040 (2013); *French King Realty Inc. v. Interstate Fire & Cas. Co.*, 79 Mass. App. Ct. 653, 664, 948 N.E.2d 1244 (2011); *United Capitol Ins. Co. v. Kapiloff* 155 F.3d 488, 496 (4th Cir. 1998); *Schwartz & Schwartz of Virginia, LLC v. Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's, London*, 677 F. Supp. 2d 890, 892, 900 (W.D. Va. 2009); *Goldstein v. Fidelity & Guar. Ins. Underwriters*, 86 F.3d 749, 753-754 (7th Cir. 1996); *Illinois Union Ins. Co. v. Grandview Palace Condos. Ass'n*, 155 A.D.3d 459 (N.Y. App. Div. 2017); *Scottsdale Ins. Co. v. Logansport Gaming*, LLC, 556 F. App'x 356 (5th Cir. 2014) (Unpublished opinion cited pursuant to GR 14.1); *Mt. Hawley Ins. Co. v. Adell Plastics, Inc.*, 348 F. Supp. 3d 458, 462 (D. Md. 2018).

"legislature declared that the 'business of insurance is one affected by the public interest." *Moeller v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 173 Wn.2d 264, 272, 267 P.3d 998 (2011). The issues at stake here are of substantial public interest and should be decided by this Court. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(4). Review is also warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3).

A. The Court of Appeals Misinterpreted the Policy

The Whaley decision misconstrues the record, disregards the policy language, and ignores fundamental principles of interpretation. "Interpretation of an insurance contract is a question of law reviewed de novo." Woo v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co., 161 Wn.2d 43, 52, 164 P.3d 454 (2007). The policy is "given a fair, reasonable, and sensible construction as would be given to the contract by the average person purchasing insurance." Queen City Farms v. Cent. Nat'l Ins. Co., 126 Wn.2d 50, 65, 882 P.2d 703 (1994). Policies are not to be construed in a manner "leading to absurd results." Moeller v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash., 173 Wn.2d 264, 272, 267 P.3d 998 (2011)

This Court has long held that "exclusions from coverage of insurance are contrary to the fundamental protective purpose of insurance and will not be extended beyond their clear and unequivocal meaning." *Stuart v. Am. States Ins. Co.*, 134 Wn.2d 814, 818-19, 953 P.2d 462 (1998); *see also Vision One, LLC v. Phila. Indem. Ins. Co.*, 174 Wn.2d 501, 512, 276 P.3d 300 (2012). "Exclusionary clauses are narrowly construed for the purpose of providing maximum coverage for the insured." *George v. Farmers Ins. Co.*, 106 Wn. App. 430, 439, 23 P.3d 552 (2001).

Here, rather than limiting the exclusionary clauses in the Protective Safeguards endorsement, the Court of Appeals vastly extended the scope of the exclusions. Turning to the relevant provisions, subsection A provides the Condition, which required the Whaleys "to maintain the protective devices or services" identified as follows:

An automatic commercial kitchen fire suppression[]including hood, plenums, exhaust

ducts, and fire[]extinguishing equipment over cooking appliances[]that is in compliance with both Underwriters Laboratories standard (UL300) and National Fire Protective Association 96 (NFPA 96). The suppression system must be inspected and serviced semi-annually by an independent contractor and the ventilating system must be cleaned quarterly by an independent contractor.

CP 379. Subsection B provided the following exclusionary provisions:

We will not pay for loss or damage caused by or resulting from fire if, prior to the fire, you:

- 1. Knew of any suspension or *impairment* in any protective safeguard listed in the Schedule above and failed to notify us of that fact; or
- 2. Failed to maintain any protective safeguard listed in the Schedule above, and over which you had control, in *complete working order*.

CP 380. (Emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals held that coverage was properly excluded under both provisions of subsection B. *Whaley*, at 20, 22. First, the *Whaley* Court interpreted the meaning of the word "impairment" in the exclusionary clause as encapsulating any noncompliance with "UL 300 and NFPA 96 standards." *Whaley*,

at 14. The NFPA 96 contains hundreds of technical requirements spread out over 15 chapters. See NFPA 96, Standard for Ventilation Control and Fire Protection of Commercial Cooking Operations Handbook, (2017 Ed.). The "General Requirements" in Chapter 4 alone reflect over 45 different rules relating to spacing, distance, cleaning, and design. See NFPA 96, section 4.1.1 to 4.8.2.5. Under the interpretation adopted in Whaley, if a policyholder does not perfectly comply with every technical requirement contained in NFPA 96 and UL 300, then the protective safeguard has an "impairment" and is subject to the exclusion. See Whaley, at 14.

Second, the *Whaley* Court held that "a fire suppression system that does not comply with the Safeguards Condition cannot be in complete working order for purposes of the Safeguards Exclusion." *Id.* at 23 (quoting *United Specialty Ins. Co. v. Shot Shakers, Inc.*, No. C18-0596JLR, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7463, at *34 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 15, 2019)). In other words, the Court of Appeals determined that any noncompliance

with the NFPA 96 or UL 300 means that the insured has failed to maintain the system "in complete working order" for purposes of the other exclusionary clause. *See Whaley*, at 23. Thus, the *Whaley* Court—contrary to both the plain language of the policy and fundamental principles of construing exclusions narrowly—determined that "complete working order" does not mean fully functional, but rather, it means that the system is perfectly compliant with every single technical standard and guideline.

The Court of Appeals followed *Shot Shakers* on this issue seemingly without noticing that the holding was based on a materially distinct Safeguard Condition that expressly required the insured to maintain a "fully functional and actively engaged fire extinguishing system." *Shot Shakers*, at 25. The *Shot Shakers* court looked at the plain language of the condition and explained "the objective meaning of the Safeguards Condition is that [the insured] was required to have a complete, working fire suppression system, (*i.e.*, fully functional)." *Id.* at 27. Because the fire suppression system was wholly ineffective and had no

nozzles to address the fire, the Shot Shakers Court easily concluded that the insured failed to comply with the Safeguard Condition. *Id.* at 27-28. Based on the *actual language* of the Safeguard Condition, the Shot Shakers court held that "[a] fire suppression system that does not comply with the Safeguards Condition cannot be 'in complete working order' for purposes of the Safeguards Exclusion." Id. at 34. While the Whaley Court relied on Shot Shakers and purported to "follow its sound reasoning," Id., at 23, it is evident that the Court of Appeals failed to appreciate that "sound reasoning" was grounded in the policy language. The Court of Appeals interpretation of the protective safeguards endorsement is erroneous and would lead to absurd results permitting insurers to deny coverage based on noncompliance with immaterial technicalities despite fully functioning systems. Such a construction must be avoided. See Moeller, 173 Wn.2d at 272. Under these circumstances, the questions of whether the fire suppression system was "impaired" or "in complete working order" require a jury. Washington State

should follow other jurisdictions and refuse to allow alleged "deficiencies" based on speculated noncompliance with select technical specifications—which were overwhelmingly complied with—to justify an insurer's denial of a covered loss.

B. Substantial Compliance Standard is Appropriate

The Court of Appeals quickly dismissed the substantial compliance argument and the nearly identical case in which it was applied. See Whaley, at 24. This Court should consider the persuasive reasoning of Hernandez & Nunez, Inc. v. Penn-America Ins. Co., No. CV 18-4192 AS, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 56960, at *18-20 (C.D. Cal. Feb. 15, 2019). In *Hernandez*, the Court refused to construe the protective safeguards endorsement to preclude coverage when the system was operational and "serve[d] its purpose." Id. at 22. Applying the doctrine of substantial compliance, the *Hernandez* Court explained "while there is disputed, material evidence as to whether the fire suppression system had been properly maintained, the undisputed evidence indicates that Plaintiff's fire suppression

system was in 'complete working order.'" *Id.* at 22. The reasoning applies equally here and Washington State law should follow suit. Even if this Court determined the Whaleys did not comply with every single requirement in the protective safeguards endorsement, they certainly raised an issue of material fact on the matter. *See Staples v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 176 Wn.2d 404, 414, 295 P.3d 201 (2013).

C. The Prejudice Requirement Should Apply

While the *Whaley* Court refused to apply the prejudice requirement in here, Washington case law has consistently required insurers to show actual prejudice in order to exclude coverage based on noncompliance. *See Tran v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 214, 228, 961 P.2d 358 (1998) (insurer must show actual prejudice resulting from insured's breach of a cooperation clause); *Staples v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 176 Wn.2d 404, 418, 295 P.3d 201 (2013) (insurer must show actual prejudice due to insured's failure to comply with the policy's examination-under-oath provision); *Griffin v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 108 Wn. App.

133, 141, 29 P.3d 777 (2001) ("actual and substantial prejudice is required before an insured's breach will release an insurer from its duty under the policy").

The application should be extended into this context. "Washington courts have continued to expand the prejudice rule." Hermanson Co., LLP v. Siriuspoint Specialty Ins. Corp., No. 2:23-cv-00431-JHC, 2023 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 223805, at *24 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 15, 2023) (requiring insurer to show prejudice from breach of prior consent clause to deny coverage of insured's redress expenses). As this Court explained in *Staples*, "We have required a showing of prejudice in nearly all other contexts to prevent insurers from receiving windfalls at the expense of the public and to avoid hinging relief on a discredited legalistic distinction." 176 Wn.2d at 418. This reasoning applies to the notice provision and condition in the Protective Safeguards endorsement. This Court should require OSIC and other insurance companies to establish actual prejudice in this context.

D. The Court of Appeals Misconstrued the Record

The Whaley opinion omits material facts and misconstrues the record. The Court of Appeals attempted to distinguish Shot Shakers by stating that "[t]he policy in Shot Shakers specifically included a provision not present in the Whaley's policy that excluded coverage if the insureds made misrepresentations in their application for coverage." Whaley, at 22 n.6. This is objectively incorrect. The entire misrepresentation provision from the policy in *Shot Shakers* is provided in the opinion. See Shot Shakers, at 6. Not only does the Whaleys' Policy contain the exact same material misrepresentation provision from the policy in *Shot Shakers*, the provision is located in the *exact same* section of the Policy as it was in the policy at issue in Shot Shakers. See CP 370 (Commercial Property Conditions, Section A).

Even more notable is the Court of Appeals' response to the Whaleys' argument that the investigations by the City and OSIC "did not establish that the fire suppression system delayed in

activating or that it caused more damage." Whaley, at 23. The Court acknowledges that Blaine neither knew how long the fire burned nor "follow[ed] the NFPA 921 Guide for Fire and Explosion Investigations before issuing his report." Id. Then, remarkably, the Whaley Court asserts as follows: "On the other hand, Ohio Security's consultant, Hickey, noted in his report to Ohio Security that he used the NFPA 921 guide." Id. at 23 n.7.

As thoroughly detailed above, Hickey provided a lengthy deposition in which he repeatedly admitted that he did *not* follow the requirements of NFPA 921 for his report. CP 1068. Contrary to the requirements of NFPA 921, Hickey neither performed any testing nor did he rely on any testing to determine the purported damage resulting from the alleged deficiencies in the system. CP 1067-68. Hickey agreed that NFPA 921 required him to independently verify any conclusions that he relied upon. CP 1069. Hickey testified that he never independently verified any of the findings or conclusions in his report. CP 1071-74. Again, Hickey was clear in the fact that he "took at face value everything

that was relayed to [him] orally" by Blaine. CP 1074. *Nothing* in Hickey's report was compliant with NFPA 921.

The Court of Appeals decision is erroneous on numerous grounds. Summary judgment is appropriate *only* when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and "the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Ainsworth v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co.*, 180 Wn. App. 52, 61, 322 P.3d 6 (2014); CR 56(c). Disputed issued of material fact exist and OSIC is not entitled to judgment as a matter of law under the Policy. Again, the burden was always on OSIC to "show the loss [was] excluded by specific policy language." *McDonald v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 119 Wn.2d 724, 731, 837 P.2d 1000 (1992). OSIC plainly failed to do so. This Court should accept review and reverse.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Whaleys respectfully request this court reverse the trial court's order granting summary judgment to OSIC.

I certify that this memorandum contains 4,090 words, in compliance with the RAP18.17.