# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/15/2025 3:01 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1043902

Court of Appeal Cause No. 86200-6-I

## THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### BRAD AND AMY WHALEY,

Appellants,

VS.

#### OHIO SECURITY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael D. Handler, WSBA #25654 Daniel L Syhre, WSBA #34158 Forsberg & Umlauf, P.S. 401 Union St., Suite 1400 Seattle, WA 98101 Phone: (206) 689-8500 mhandler@foum.law dsyhre@foum.law

### **

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

# III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED

The Whaleys contend review should be accepted primarily under RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Whaleys also contend

RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3) apply.<sup>5</sup> Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) A petition for review will be accepted *only* where the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with a Supreme Court or is of substantial interest to the public that it should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4). Neither standard is met here.

# A. There is no Issue of Substantial Public Interest Involved

This case involves a discrete issue of property coverage involving a single policy holder under a very specific set of undisputed facts that clearly apply to the policy language in the Ohio Security policy. Whaleys have not contended any language in the Ohio Security policy is ambiguous. To the contrary, the Whaleys repeatedly concede that the policy language is "plain." *See, e.g.*, Petition, at 17.

Instead, the Whaleys take issue with what they perceive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>RAP 13.4(b)(3) applies only when there is a significant constitutional question. Whaleys have identified no such constitutional question, and so Ohio Security will not address this basis further.

of the opinion that "any noncompliance with 'UL 3000 or NFPA 96 standards" constitutes an "impairment." Petition at 15. Whaley misreads the Court of Appeals. In actuality, the Court of Appeals held only that impairment was not synonymous with "loss of function." *Whaley* at 14. That is not the same as saying any deficiency could trigger the exclusion.

Nevertheless, *in this case*, it is undisputed that the deficiencies in the system were material to the loss, and were not mere technical failures. The clearest example is the condition of the hood. It is undisputed that one purpose of the hood is to keep the smoke and fire within the hood, and prevent fire and smoke from exiting the hood and damaging the structure. It is undisputed that the hood had, before the fire, pulled away from the wall, and the hood to duct transition had been sealed with silicone, rather than a solid weld. The post-fire investigation clearly found that fire escaped the hood and damaged the structure because of this deficiency.

Another example involves the electrical failure of the hood exhaust to turn on and the make-up air to turn off in the event of a fire. It is undisputed that this deficiency was noted pre-loss by both Alpine and the Fire Marshal's inspection, and it is undisputed it was never repaired. The failure of the exhaust to turn on (to remove smoke) impacted the amount of smoke damage to the structure.

A third deficiency involved the failure to conduct a temperature survey to establish the proper fusible link temperature, and the use of links that were too high, this delaying triggering of the system. CP. 183, 200, 627.6

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Whaley makes much of their examination of Fire Marshal Blain and Mr. Hickey regarding the improper heat ratings of the fusible links, and the delay in activating the system. All-American Fire Protection, upon whom Fire Marshal Blaine relied, reached the same conclusion. All experts, however, were consistent in their opinion that the links delayed activation. Even if this one deficiency cannot be directly tied to additional damages, however, the fire damage resulting from other deficiencies were not disputed.

In essence, Whaley seeks an advisory opinion<sup>7</sup> from this Court that the policy may not apply to "technical" or "immaterial" deficiencies not present here, even though the policy language clearly applies to the material deficiencies that existed *in this case*. The Whaleys have not provided a single example of a hypothetical condition which they deem to be technical or immaterial, nor do the Whaleys argue that the deficiencies that do exist in this case are immaterial or technical. The Court should decide whether to accept review based on the facts *of this case*, rather than on the facts the Whaleys wish they had.

Ultimately, the issue is not whether any potential deficiency, in the abstract, is material, or constitutes an impairment to the system. Instead, the issue is whether, under the facts of the case at hand, the defects that did exist were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Courts will not engage in advisory opinions. *Howard v. Pinkerton*, 26 Wn.App. 2nd 670, 678, n.5 (2023); *West v. Vermillion*, 196 Wn. App. 627, 640 (2016), *citing Walker v. Munro*, 124 Wn.2d 402, 418, 879 P.2d 920 (1994).

material to the fire or the resulting damage. In this case, it is undisputed that they were material. Thus, even if the Court were to accept review, and hold that the exclusion does not apply to every (unidentified and undefined) technical deficiency, it would still need to affirm this case because deficiencies in this case were material. There is no issue of substantial public interest.

# B. Whaley's "Substantial Compliance" argument is inapposite

The Whaleys contend that the Court of Appeals erred when refusing to apply a substantial compliance test to the Protective Safeguards endorsement. Petition at 19. The Whaleys' argument is simply wrong. The Protective Safeguards endorsement includes both a condition precedent to coverage, and an exclusion. The Court of Appeals properly noted that the Whaleys provided no authority (and still provide no authority) that substantial compliance applies to an exclusion, and properly distinguished *Hernandez*, which treated the policy exclusion as a condition. *Whaley v. Ohio Sec. Ins.* 

Co., No. 86200-6-1, 2025 Wash App. LEXIS 1145 (Ct. of App., June 16, 2025), at 23-24.

Even if substantial compliance were to apply, the facts are undisputed that Whaleys did not substantially comply. The deficiencies were known to the Whaleys for more than a year, and they did nothing to remedy them. Indeed, the Whaleys testified that they looked into making the required remedies but never did. While the system did ultimately extinguish the fire, it is similarly undisputed that the deficiencies led to additional damage. There was no issue for the jury.

# C. There is no conflict with Washington Authority regarding the Prejudice Requirement

As they did at the Court of Appeals, Whaleys rely entirely on cases applying prejudice to post-claims handling conditions. Washington courts have not applied the prejudice requirement to conditions unrelated to claims handling functions. *See, Pilgrim v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 950 P.2d 479, 485 n.50 (Wash. Ct. App. 1997) ("[C]ourts refuse to analyze prejudice in cases involving types of clauses other than

those involving the handling of claims."); *Safeco Title Ins. Co. v. Gannon*, 54 Wn. App. 330, 774 P.2d 30 (1989) (refusing to apply prejudice analysis to a termination of coverage clause in a "claims-made" policy), *citing, Simms v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 27 Wn. App. 872, 876-77, 621 P.2d 155 (1980) (finding of prejudice not required to apply contractual suit limitations condition.). Whaleys cite to no published Washington authority extending the prejudice requirement to conditions precedent to coverage outside the post claim handling conditions.<sup>8</sup>

Moreover, any prejudice requirement, if extended, would only apply to the condition portion of the endorsement, not to the exclusion. Whaleys cite no authority that would extend prejudice to application of an exclusion.

Finally, even if a prejudice requirement were to apply, it is undisputed Whaleys prejudiced Ohio Security in this case.

The failure to ensure that the fire protective system was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>For this reason alone, the case does not meet the requirements of RAP 13.4(b)(1).

compliant with the requirements in the Protective Safeguards endorsement resulted in additional damage to the structure. That is indisputably prejudice.

# D. Whaleys' Concerns regarding the Court of Appeals Construction of the Record does not Warrant Review

Finally, Whaleys raise two issues regarding the Court of Appeals' construction of the record. Neither were raised on reconsideration, and neither fall within the RAP 13.4(b) standards for acceptance of Review. Regardless, neither suggested error is material to the Court of Appeals' decision to warrant review.

First, Whaleys point out, correctly, that the Ohio Security policy does contain a misrepresentation provision. However, the Court of Appeals' error in not recognizing that the Ohio Security policy and the policy in *United Specialty Ins. Co. v. Shot Shakers, Inc., 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7463 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 15, 2019)* contained the same misrepresentation clause is immaterial. It was Whaleys who attempted to distinguish *Shot Shakers* by claiming that the policyholder there made

misrepresentations. *Whaley*, at 22. However, the misrepresentations were immaterial to the *Shot Shakers* Court's holding on the Protective Safeguards endorsement.

In *Shot Shakers*, the insurer moved on three grounds: (1) Application of the Protective Safeguards endorsement; (2) application of the exclusion for material misrepresentations, and (3) for rescission of the policy. The Court granted the insurer's motion on the first two grounds. However, the court's analysis of the application of the Protective Safeguards endorsement was independent of its analysis of the exclusion for alleged misrepresentations. *Shot Shakers*, at 24-37.

Thus, Whaleys' attempt to distinguish *Shot Shakers* based on the claims of misrepresentation, and the Court of Appeals' erroneous rejection of that attempt, are immaterial to application of the Protective Safeguards endorsement.

Whaleys' second argument relates to the investigation by Ohio Security's cause and origin investigator, Ted Hickey, and whether Mr. Hickey followed the NFPA in his investigation. Whaleys' argument fails for a number of reasons. First, Mr. Hickey is only one of four experts to opine, in addition to Fire Marshal Blaine, All American Fire Protection (upon whom Blaine relied and who was never deposed, and whose conclusions were never challenged) and Chip Barnhardt, who was retained as an expert by Ohio Security in the litigation.<sup>9</sup>

Second, Mr. Hickey was retained to determine the cause and origin of the fire. CP 1066 (p. 13:24-25). The cause and origin are not in dispute. The fire was caused by grease left on the flat top griddle and the location of the origin of the fire was the flat top griddle.

More importantly, however, Mr. Hickey did not opine and, and was not questioned about, the condition of the hood and vent, the fact that prior to the loss it had pulled away from the wall, and that the improper silicone seal had melted.

- 23 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Mr. Barnhart's expert report was submitted in opposition to Alpine's Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 581. Both Alpine's motion and Ohio Security's motion were heard at the same time, the trial court had all materials available, and Whaleys designated both motions' materials as Clerk's Papers.

Whaleys have never disputed that this deficiency existed, or that it resulted in damage to the structure.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Ohio Security respectfully request that this Court deny Whaleys' petition for review.

I certify that *Respondent's Answer to Appellants'*Petition for Review contains 3,349 words (excluding words contained in appendices, title sheet, table of contents, table of authorities, certificate of compliance, certificate of service, signature blocks, and pictorial images) in compliance with RAP 18.17.